#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

			SID J. WHITE
KIRK ALLEN HANSBROUGH,	)		FEB 20 1986
Appellant,	) ) )	CASE NO.	By SUPREME COURT 67,465 Deputy Olerk
STATE OF FLORIDA,	)		
Appellee.	) )		

# INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CHANDLER R. MULLER, and
WARREN W. LINDSEY, of
MULLER, KIRKCONNELL AND
LINDSEY, P.A.
1150 Louisiana Avenue, Suite 1
Post Office Box 2728
Winter Park, Florida 32790
Telephone: (305) 645-3000

Attorney for the Appellant.

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This case involves an appeal of the Appellant's conviction for first degree felony murder and the sentence of death, as well as an appeal from his conviction for armed robbery, arising out of the same transaction.

The Record on Appeal consists of forty volumes, consisting of 6,587 pages. The Record on Appeal includes the transcript of the two-week trial, transcripts of pre-trial hearings, transcripts of depositions, and all pleadings and orders in the case.

The Appellant, KIRK ALLEN HANSBROUGH, will be referred to herein as either the Appellant, the Defendant, or as Hansbrough. The Appellee, STATE OF FLORIDA, will hereinafter be referred to as the Appellee, the State, or the prosecution.

References to the appropriate pages in the Record on Appeal will be referred to by page number in parenthesis.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Defendant appeals from his judgment and conviction of first degree murder and armed robbery and sentence of death over the jury's majority recommendation of life imprisonment (6489-6503; 5243-5244).

The Honorable Lawrence R. Kirkwood was the trial judge and Assistant State Attorney Belvin Perry prosecuted for the State.

The Defendant was indicted for the first degree murder of Pamela Jean Cole on August 31, 1984, the homicide occurring on June 20, 1984 (4798). The Defendant filed numerous pre-trial motions.

The Defendant filed a Motion to Suppress Physical Evidence directed to shoes taken from his person, and pants and a shirt seized from his home (4910-4912), along with a Memorandum of Law in Support of Said Motion (4955-4967). The Defendant also filed a Motion to Suppress Confession and/or Admission (4913-4918), with accompanying memorandum (4955-4967; 4968-4976; 4936-4939) and a Supplemental Motion to Suppress Confession and/or Admission, as well as Tangible Evidence (5046-5048). He further filed a Motion to Suppress All Statements of the Defendant and All Statements Past or In the Future of Witnesses Sharon Alden, Robert Alden, Sr., Robert Alden, Jr., and all Other Witnesses, as well as a Motion to Suppress All Physical Evidence with Memorandum (4945-4953). An evidentiary hearing was held on Defendant's Motions to Suppress on March 22, 1985.

The Defendant alleged in his Motions to Suppress that all statements derived from him and all derivative evidence in the case was obtained as a result of statements taken from him after a pretextual stop of the Defendant and his automobile and his subsequent arrest.

Officer Tim Halleran of the Orlando Police Department (O.P.D.),

a patrol officer, testified at the suppression hearing that he was the first officer to arrive at the James K. Ramsey Insurance Agency where the homicide occurred on June 20, 1984 (2427). While he was at the scene, there was no one in custody for the homicide and he knew of no suspects' names (2428-2430).

Officer Halleran testified that he stopped the Defendant on July 17, 1984, allegedly for driving with a cracked windshield and making an improper left turn (2432-2433). Officer Halleran admitted that just prior to stopping the Defendant, he received a call from the Tactical Intelligence Unit (TIU) that they wanted him to check an address attributable to the Defendant (2433-2434). Two officers from TIU parked in the parking lot where the Defendant was pulled over and gave information to Halleran concerning the Defendant (2437-2438). After his stop for the alleged infractions, the Defendant was arrested for driving while license suspended for failure to pay traffic fines, a traffic offense that often results in no arrest but merely the issuance of a traffic ticket (2473). No tickets were issued to him for the supposed driving with a broken windshield charge or the alleged improper turn charge, both civil traffic infractions (2439-2440). Officer Halleran admitted that he may have had a conversation with TIU concerning stopping the Defendant's car for intelligence purposes prior to making the decision to make the stop (2456). He testified that this would not be unusual to have a suspect stopped for an alleged traffic violation to get intelligence information (2451; 2453).

O.P.D. Officer Michael Bethea testified he was assigned to the Tactical Intelligence Unit at the time of the Defendant's stop. He was involved in surveillance of the Defendant from June 20, 1984 until the

traffic stop of the Defendant. Prior to the stop of the Defendant on July 17, 1984, he was aware of the Defendant's daily routine. He testified that he and another homicide detective, John Chisari, saw the Defendant's automobile driving near Bumby and Colonial Drive in Orlando, and Officer Bethea radioed for a uniformed unit to stop the Defendant, using the justification of a supposed cracked windshield on his car (2540-2542). Officer Bethea testified that he instructed Halleran to put any traffic violations he could see on the Defendant's vehicle so they could stop him for intelligence purposes (2542-2547). When asked what Officer Bethea hoped to achieve by having the Defendant's vehicle stopped for any traffic violations, he testified:

Hopefully, we could maybe observe something that would tie him into the crime [the homicide], just in plain view. When the officer talked to him, we could find out maybe where he worked, where, in fact, he was living, and just general information (2549).

Officer Bethea testified that he knew the Defendant was a suspect in the homicide and that he knew that the cracked windshield would give the officer a chance to look for plain view evidence and to question the Defendant, as well as constitute a reason to get the Defendant downtown to question him further (2551-2556).

Officer Gary Strong, a sergeant with O.P.D., testified that there had been an earlier communication prior to July 17, 1984, between the homicide detectives and the TIU officers that they needed to speak with the Defendant to get information from him. He testified that before the Defendant was brought in on July 17, 1984, he knew a decision had been made to bring the Defendant in at some point (2558-2561).

The Defendant filed a Motion to Produce Copies of Transcripts of Radio and/or Telephonic Transmission (4924-4925) concerning the radio

transmissions between Officer Halleran and members of the TIU squad to further support his pretextual stop argument. However, the State informed the Defendant that those taped transmissions had been destroyed by being taped over, a month after they were utilized (2810-2811).

After the Defendant's arrest for driving while license suspended, Officer Halleran transported him to the Orlando Police Department to Detective John Chisari who intended to question him about any information and knowledge he had concerning the Ramsey homicide case since the Defendant was a suspect (2512; 2482-2485). Officer Chisari was aware of the Defendant's alleged traffic stop (he was at the scene) and he ordered the Defendant taken to him for questioning (4769). At this point, it was conceded that there was no probable cause to arrest the Defendant for the murder although he was a suspect and the police wanted to gain further information from him. The only knowledge the police had of the Defendant at this point was an anonymous telephone tip (4769).

From his July 17, 1984 conversation with the Defendant, Officer Chisari was able to secure the Defendant's shoes from him and he also obtained information from the Defendant concerning the existence of two crucial witnesses, Sharon and Robert Alden, Sr., who, when later interviewed by Chisari, linked the Defendant to the homicide. Chisari also determined the whereabouts of the Defendant that day, including information about going to the chiropractor's office (2527-2531; 4769-4770). The only persons who linked the Defendant to the homicide up to the time of the Defendant's arrest were Robert Alden, Sr., Sharon Alden, and Robert Alden, Jr. (2815). The police discovered the existence of Robert Alden, Jr. and other key witnesses and evidence as a result of

that interview with the Defendant.

Officer Chisari also admitted that he had a conversation with the Defendant about having the Defendant released on pre-trial release without the need for posting a bond and that he actually made a request from the pre-trial release officer to have the Defendant released on his recognizance (2582). Officer Chisari never told the Defendant that the police intended to perform blood tests on the shoes (2504).

The Defendant testified that when he was arrested on July 17, 1984, by Officer Halleran, he did not have the money to make a bond and he mentioned this to Officer Chisari. He testified that Chisari told the Defendant that if he gave him his shoes, he would be released without having to post a bond (2716-2718). He testified that he wrote out the permission form to surrender his shoes with Officer Chisari's help, including language provided by Officer Chisari (2744-2746). The Defendant, during that July 17, 1984 conversation, admitted that he was at the Ramsey Insurance Agency on the day of the killing to inquire about insurance, but denied any involvement in or knowledge of the homicide (2482-2486).

A continuation of the evidentiary hearing on the defense Motions to Suppress was held on April 10, 1985. Officer Chisari testified that he arrested the Defendant pursuant to an arrest warrant on July 23, 1984 and interviewed the Defendant at the Orlando Police Department in an interview room. The interview began at about 9:00 p.m. (2624-2625). Officer Chisari stated that the Defendant would not allow the conversation to be taped and that the Defendant also would not give a written statement (2626). For the first two hours of interrogation, the Defendant gave the same exculpatory statement as he had previously given

on July 17, 1984 (2627-2637).

The Defendant's girl friend, Nora Fussall, who had lived with the Defendant since 1981, was with the Defendant when he was arrested on July 24, 1984, and was directed to come to the police department for an interview (2633-2681). After two hours of the Defendant adhering to his previous exculpatory statement, Officer Chisari left the interview room to speak to Ms. Fussall (2636-2637). Ms. Fussall testified that Officer Chisari told her that the Defendant was not being truthful and he asked her to talk to Hansbrough about the case (2669-2670). Ms. Fussall further testified that Officer Chisari told her that, in his opinion, this was not a premeditated killing but just a young guy getting into trouble because of drugs (2671-2673). Ms. Fussall testified that she felt that Officer Chisari wanted her to speak with the Defendant in order to comfort the Defendant and get him to tell the truth (2673). Ms. Fussall testified that Chisari explained the penalties for first, second and third degree murder and indicated that it did not sound like this was a premeditated murder but that the Defendant would not tell him anything to support that it wasn't (2684-2685). Ms. Fussall testified that she went into the interview room and told the Defendant to tell Chisari the truth so it would be easier on him and so he could get help for his drug problem (2674; 2671-2673). John Boneff, another family friend who waited outside the interview room, testified that when Ms. Fussall came out of the interview room from talking with Kirk, she told Mr. Boneff that everything would be all right because the Defendant was going to make some kind of a statement (2697). After speaking with Ms. Fussall and after being repeatedly confronted with the statements of Sharon and Robert Alden, Sr. and Jr., the Defendant did give an

incriminating statement, implicating himself in the homicide, although denying that he remembered killing the victim (2638-2649). Officer Chisari testified he did not have a conversation with Ms. Fussall regarding the Defendant's drug usage or concerning the penalties for murder prior to leaving the Defendant and Ms. Fussall alone in the interview room.

Prior to the Defendant changing his previous statement, Officer Chisari repeatedly confronted the Defendant with raised voice about untruths in his story that he had uncovered from the information gleaned from the Defendant during the July 17, 1984 interrogation, including what the police learned from Sharon and Robert Alden when the Defendant gave Chisari their names during the July 17, 1984 interview (2640-2660).

The Defendant testified that after he was arrested on July 23, 1984, he did not finally give an incriminating statement until after Chisari had confronted him with Sharon and Robert Alden's statements (2725). He further testified that he would not have confessed had the police not allowed Ms. Fussall to come in and talk to him during the interview (2725-2726). Ms. Fussall testified she also told the Defendant to "do what you need to do to get these people to help you" (2687). The court denied all of the Defendant's pre-trial Motions to Suppress Statements and Evidence (5091-5094).

The State filed a Motion for Protective Order regarding the Defendant taking the depositions of the parents and the husband of the victim (5074-5075; 2837-2867). The State's Motion in Limine also requested the court to preclude the Defendant from eliciting any testimony concerning the facts surrounding a prior assault and battery on the victim on November 13, 1977. The State's position was that the

evidence was irrelevant (2868-2869).

The Defendant resisted both the State's Motions in Limine, arguing that the evidence concerning the prior sexual battery, which could be developed through police testimony and the testimony of the Defendant's family, was relevant to the issue of whether or not the victim grabbed the Defendant's hair and fought with the Defendant subsequent to the Defendant taking the money bag from the victim (2879-2880). The testimony was relevant to the theory of the Defendant's case and corroborated the Defendant's version of the facts. Furthermore, it helped corroborate the other psychiatrists' opinions that the unexpected event of the victim grabbing the Defendant's hair triggered the psychotic break of temporary insanity (2885-2891). Defendant pointed out that the State's own expert witness, Dr. Ernest Miller, a board certified psychiatrist, testified that the prior assault on the victim was a relevant factor in the case and was important in his overall opinion because, in his experience, it was common for victims of prior assaults to resist subsequent assaults by such conduct (2875-2880). The Defendant cited case law during this argument (2879-2891). However, the court granted the State's Motions in Limine on both issues (2894).

The court again granted the State's renewed Motion in Limine made on the first day of trial directed to any evidence concerning the 1977 sexual battery and assault upon the victim (4). The court had previously prevented the Defendant from taking the depositions of the victim's mother, father and husband concerning that incident, pursuant to a Motion for Protective Order previously made by the State and granted by the court (3). Relating to this, the court granted the

State's Motion to Exempt from the Rule of Sequestration Michael Cole, husband of the victim, and Robert and Marie Burdick, parents of the victim (4-17; 72). The defense offered to proffer to the court in camera, with a court reporter present, additional reasons that the family's testimony would be helpful (13). The court denied the Defendant's Motion to Proffer Testimony In Camera, stating: "I don't want to hear it" (17).

During the trial testimony of the medical examiner, Dr. Guillermo Ruiz, and John David Hartsfield, a sergeant with the Orange County Sheriff's Department, the Defendant proffered the evidence concerning the prior sexual assault on the victim in 1977 (1533-1543; 1544-1556). The Defendant advised the court that the theory of the Defendant's case was that the victim, when she saw she was going to be the victim of a robbery, did the unexpected in grabbing the Defendant's hair, which plunged the Defendant into a psychotic break. Since said evidence, coupled with the evidence of the doctors, corroborated the Defendant's version of what occurred (in reference to the grabbing of his hair), the Defendant argued that he should be allowed to present such testimony in support of the theory of his case as it was relevant (1526-1556). In support of said argument, the Defendant cited to Dr. Ernest Miller's deposition as he had done during the two prior Motion in Limine hearings on this matter, which the court accepted as a proffer of evidence (1557) to support the relevancy of testimony concerning the previous assault on the victim in support of the theory of his case (1552-1554). Dr. Miller testified:

Q MR. MULLER (Defense counsel): And if I hear you correctly, doctor, had this woman not grabbed at him unexpectedly, well, you tell me, what do you think would have happened?

- A DR. MILLER: I don't think there would be a murder charge. The great tragedy of this thing is the stranger-than-fiction, the history of this victim having been raped. And as a psychiatrist, I can only project her dynamics that she didn't know how far away she was from being raped again, or, perhaps, was acting in response to having been raped and responding with a vengeance, trying to, whatever, revenge as getting back at her assailant. This tragic circumstance of her life I think was a factor . . .
- Q MR. MULLER: Do you feel that this might account for her coming after him?
- A DR. MILLER: I don't know how we can possibly exclude that as a strong possibility. I think it's very unusual for there to be any other reason for one to rise in defense of their employer's money and subject themselves to possible death. (1551-1552)

Despite the Defendant's proffer and the fact that Dr. Miller testified he felt, as a psychiatrist, the prior attack on the victim was relevant to his opinion in the instant case, the court refused to allow such testimony (1552-1556).

During the testimony of Dr. Miller, the Defendant again proffered evidence that he considered the prior 1977 sexual assault on the victim as being relevant and important in rendering his opinion, and significant in the dynamics of what occurred at around the time of the homicide (1946-1949).

The court also granted a State Motion in Limine precluding the Defendant from questioning, on cross examination, the State's primary witness, Shadrick (Shad) Martin, a cellmate of the Defendant, or presenting other evidence through other witnesses, concerning the fact that Martin had previously been arrested for first degree murder and was prosecuted by the same Assistant State Attorney, Belvin Perry, who was prosecuting the Defendant's case (2895-2897). Martin had been acquitted of that charge. Mr. Martin was facing sentencing on a felony charge of

armed burglary before Judge Kirkwood (the presiding judge at the Defendant's trial) and the Defendant wanted to be able to argue, through such cross examination, that (1) Mr. Martin had a motive, bias and interest to want to please prosecutor Perry, who, in Martin's mind, would have been disappointed by not having obtained a conviction previously, by giving favorable testimony to the prosecutor in this trial (2897-2901); (2) to show that having previously been charged with first degree murder, he was familiar with statutory aggravating and mitigating factors that would help the prosecutor (2899); and (3) to show a prior relevant relationship between Martin and Perry. Importantly, Shad Martin was the main witness to support two aggravating factor arguments that the Defendant killed the victim to prevent his arrest and that it was a premeditated killing (2897). The Defendant vigorously argued that Martin had a motive to please this prosecutor because of Martin's perceived fear that Perry might otherwise go harder on him on the pending charge because Martin beat the previous charge (2897-2901). The court granted the State's Motion in Limine regarding any cross examination by the Defendant of Shad Martin concerning his prior arrest for first degree murder and the fact that Belvin Perry previously prosecuted him (2901), as well as keeping out the testimony from other witnesses on that issue. A pre-trial motion for a psychiatric examination of Martin was denied by the court (5120-5121; 2807; 2728-2783).

The Defendant submitted to a polygraph examination prior to his arrest in the case (2985-3015). The State represented at a pre-trial hearing that it did not intend to elicit from any witness the fact that the Defendant offered to take a polygraph and that nothing would be

mentioned concerning said polygraph (2907-2908). Additionally, during trial, the prosecutor again assured the court that the fact of the polygraph would not be mentioned (847-848).

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