IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA



KIRK ALLEN HANSBROUGH,

Appellant,

By Change Count

٧.

CASE NO. 67,463

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINIH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARGENE A. ROPER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 125 N. Ridgewood Avenue Fourth Floor Daytona Beach, Florida 32014 (904) 252-1067

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The defendant's argument that the trial court erred in failing to suppress all physical evidence, statements by the defendant, witnesses and other evidence, is not preserved for appeal. No relief would be warranted in any event, as the defendant was stopped because of a cracked windshield, and an illegal left turn, and such stop was not pretextual. His girlfriend was not used as a police tool for interrogation purposes, and the evidence fully reflects that Hansbrough's later confession was the product of his own free will. The confession was, furthermore, not in violation of his rights, as he waived the same, wished to talk, and allowed the investigator to take notes.

The prosecutor told defense counsel he had only granted immunity to Robert Alden, had not prosecuted witness Martin on the burglary charge, and knew of no promises made to him in regard to his pending sentencing. Defense counsel simply disbelieved the prosecutor, and expected him to investigate his case for him without expending any more effort. Such disbelief is not the basis for an appeal without any further record support showing such promises. Moreover, the fact that the state attorney previously prosecuted the witness is a collateral matter, and the trial court did not err in disallowing inquiry into the same.

On direct examination by the state, a psychiatrist made a fleeting reference to a "polygraph" without disclosing who had taken it, what the area of questioning was, or what the results were, and such casual reference is not grounds for a mistrial.

The defendant's proposed jury instructions, as to temporary insanity, did not accurately reflect the law in regard to felony-murder, and the trial court properly rejected the same in favor of standard instructions.

The trial court properly refused to allow the defendant to introduce evi-

dence of a prior assault, and sexual battery on the dead victim, as it is only the height of speculation that such attack would develop a character trait of aggressiveness and that she acted accordingly on the day of the robbery-murder.

The defendant was sentenced to death, and in the event of a new sentencing proceeding, mandated by reversal, a new sentence of death would not be a heavier penalty.

The record fully supports the trial court's exclusion of two jurors, who because of staunch opposition to the death penalty, could not properly perform their duties. Juror Lucas was actually pro-life, aside from his misconception of the law, and was properly left on the jury.

The jury was mislead by unfounded psychiatric opinions, ignored other evidence, and the sentencing judge properly overrode their recommendation of life imprisonment.

The sentence on the armed robbery charge was legal, and in accordance with the sentencing guidelines.

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FAILING TO SUPPRESS ALL PHYSICAL EVIDENCE, STATEMENTS OF THE DEFENDANT, WITNESSES, AND OTHER EVIDENCE OBTAINED AFTER THE DEFENDANT'S TRAFFIC STOP AND ARREST.

ARGUMENT

The defendant first complains that his initial stop on July 17, 1984, by the police was an illegal pretextual stop, and that the trial court erred in failing to suppress all derivative evidence resulting from that stop. He further contends that the statements he made after his arrest on July 23, 1984, were not freely and voluntarily made, but were derived as a result of police utilizing his girlfriend to persuade him to make an incriminating statement. Lastly, he complains that his statement of July 23, 1984, made subsequent to his arrest, was, in fact, made in violation of his Miranda rights.

The state will separately address these issues under subheadings A, B, C as follows.

A. THE STOP OF HANSBROUCH ON JULY 17, 1984, WAS A VALID AND NOT PRETEXUAL ONE RESULTING IN A VALID ARREST AND HANSBROUCH'S STATEMENT WAS VOLUNTARY AND INDEPENDENT OF ANY PRIOR ARREST, AS WAS HIS CONSENT TO HAVING HIS SHOES TESTED.

The defendant complains that the stop of July 17, 1984, was pretexual in order to interrogate him and that all derivative evidence therefrom should have been suppressed.

The issue has not been preserved for appeal. A tape of the July 17, 1984, statement was admitted into evidence and published to the jury without objection (R 986). Testimony as to the shoes and the actual admission into evidence of the shoes themselves, were not objected to (R 986-990;808). No objection was raised during testimony about the search after the confession, resulting in the seizure of Hansbrough's clothing (R 893-895). The actual confession was not objected to at trial. Hansbrough, in not properly renewing his various suppression motions at appropriate times, has waived this point on appeal. Parker v. State, 456 So.2d 436 (Fla. 1984); Herzog v. State, 439 So.2d 1372 (Fla. 1983); Rounds v. State, 382 So.2d 775 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980). Even if the issue was preserved, no relief is warranted.

It is an established principle that only the objective basis which may support particular police conduct, rather than the officer's subjective intent or belief, is pertinent to determining the propriety of the action in question. See, Scott v. United States, 436 U.S. 128, 98 S.Ct. 1717, 56 L.Ed. 2d 168 (1978); Brazial v. State, 416 So.2d 828 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982); State v. Perera, 412 So.2d 867 (Fla. 2d DCA), review denied, 419 So.2d 1199 (Fla. 1982); Thomas v. State, 395 So.2d 280 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981). Thus, that the police may have wished, or even intended to detain a suspect for another reason, does not invalidate an apprehension which follows the commission of a traffic or other offense, which would subject any member of the public to a similar detention. Bascoy v. State, 424 So.2d 80 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982); Crummie v. State,

367 So.2d 1106 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979); State v. Turner, 345 So.2d 767 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977); State v. Holmes, 256 So.2d 32 (Fla. 2d DCA 1971). In the present case, it is undisputed that Hansbrough was driving his car with a cracked windshield, a safety violation (R 2434; 2541; 2742). Although Hansbrough denies it, Officer Halleran also testified that he saw Hansbrough make an illegal left turn (R 2433; 2742). Thus, Hansbrough was engaged in activity that would have subjected any citizen to a stop by a police officer. Furthermore, Hansbrough's license was suspended for two violations and Hansbrough was properly arrested for driving with a suspended license and issued a traffic citation (R 2439; 2742; 2470).

Even examining the subjective intent of the arresting officer, no pretexual stop is reflected. He testified that he only stopped the defendant on the basis of the cracked windshield and improper turn (R 2442). He received no request from headquarters, or other officers to stop Hansbrough's car, and would have remembered it if he had (R 2450). It was not until after he had stopped Hansbrough, that he learned over the police channel that he was a suspect (R 2438). It was not even the intention of surveillance Officer Michael Bethea to have the vehicle stopped so Hansbrough could be taken down for questioning, and if there was no cracked windshield, he would not have been stopped (R 2549). No one from homicide ever instructed him to stop Hansbrough (R 2548).

That once Hansbrough was validly arrested, the officer availed himself of the opportunity to question Hansbrough about the murder at the Ramsey Insurance Agency, did not render the prior stop a pretexual one, or his statement involuntary or inadmissible. Paperwork is often completed at the C.I.D.. (R 2442). Hansbrough was told he was a possible witness in the case, and that this was an opportunity to discuss it. Hansbrough responded 'No problem, yes

yes, I will talk to you." (R 2483) He was read his rights and waived them (R 2488; 2496). No threats or promises were made (R 2490). Although Chisari did help Hansbrough get out of jail on PTR, no discussion about such release occurred until the interview was over (R 2507). Hansbrough fully consented to give Officer Chisari his shoes for whatever purpose necessary, and testified at the suppression hearing that at the time it was okay with him for Chisari to take his shoes for whatever purposes." (R 2499; 2505; 2746). It is clear that Hansbrough's statement, as well as his later confession, and surrender of his sneakers were acts of free will, aside from any prior arrest, and unlike the cases cited by the defendant, no involuntary search or seizure occurred as a result of the invalid stop. It is also significant that the following day Hansbrough spoke to Officer Beal in a noncustodial setting, in which he was free to leave, and after being informed of his Miranda rights, and waiving the same, reiterated his statement of the day before, and provided even more detail, i.e., that he had been at Ramsey's at 2:30 p.m., the day of the murder, then went to visit the Alden's and took Sharon to the chiropractor's office (R 848-854). Thus, any information resulting in the testimony of the Aldens, was obtained through normal police work and was not the result of a pretextual stop. The actual confession was so attentuated as to have no connection with the July 17, 1984, stop of the defendant. Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471, 83 S.Ct. 407, 9 L.Ed.2d 441 (1963). Consent to search the home for clothing was given by both the defendant and his girlfriend (R 893).

B. THE DEFENDANT'S STATEMENTS AFTER HIS ARREST ON JULY 23, 1984, WERE FREELY AND VOLUNTARILY MADE AND WERE NOT THE RESULT OF THE AUTHORITIES UTILIZING HIS GIRLFRIEND AS A POLICE TOOL.

The defendant complains that a statement was not freely and voluntarily given, but was made as a result of a promise that he would be allowed to be comforted and have a contact visit alone, with his long-time, live in girl-friend. He further alleges that she encouraged him to give a statement based on her conversation with Officer Chisari, that he would receive help for his drug problem and that Chisari wanted evidence to support his belief that it was not a first-degree murder case. In essence, it is Hansbrough's contention that Noral Fussall was acting as a police tool to entice him to make a statement, by promising a benefit to him for doing so.

This contention has been waived for appellate review. The defense made no objection at trial during Officer Chisari's testimony, in which he related Hansbrough's confession of July 23, 1984. Parker v. State, 456 So. 2d 436 (Fla. 1984); Herzog v. State, 439 So. 2d 1372 (Fla. 1985). Hansbrough has further waived the right to complain of this confession, and its admission is harmless, in view of the fact that at trial Hansbrough's psychiatrists, testifying in support of his temporary insanity defense, encompassed the facts of this very confession within their opinions, and thus, these very same facts were brought before the jury by the defendant himself. See, Alvarez v. State, 403 So.2d 1005 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981). Hansbrough's own defense was premised upon the facts of this confession. In view of the statements given by Hansbrough to Shadrick Martin and Robert Alden, as well as the physical evidence in the case, it is not likely, and Hansbrough has not demonstrated, that were this confession excluded, his defense would have been other than what it was. In fact, Hansbrough complains elsewhere in this brief of not being allowed to substantiate portions of this confession by introducing into evidence

the background of the victim.

Even, in the event, that this issue could be entertained on appeal, no relief could be afforded Hansbrough. Hansbrough testified at the suppression hearing that his girlfriend, Nora, did not tell him what to say (R 2742). Hansbrough further stated, "I was concerned whether she was going to stick with me through all this. After she told me she was going to stick with me, be there until the end, and if I went to jail, she would be there when the doors opened, I decided right then, myself, I'd go ahead and confess to it." (R 2729). Moreover, Hansbrough knew what the penalties were for first-degree murder (R 2730). Nora went into the defendant, not at the behest of the police, but because the defendant had requested to see her several times (R 2726). Hansbrough wanted to see Nora, simply because he was worried about her as he saw how upset she was upon his arrest, and he did not know what kind of questions she was being asked, or what she was going through (R 2726). Officer Chisari testified that there was a point in the interview, where he felt that Hansbrough was ready to tell the truth, at which point Hansbrough said, "Listen, is Nora out there?" Chisari said he would check. Hansbrough then said, 'Let me talk to Nora." (R 2654). Chisari then asked Nora if she wanted to talk to the defendant (R 2655). Nora Fussall, herself, testified that Officer Chisari did not tell her to go in there and get Hambrough to confess to killing someone, and that she did not feel obligated to extract the confession (R 2685-2686). She did not tell Hansbrough to confess to killing a lady (R 2688). Fussall did not want to know what had happened, why Hansbrough was there, or what he was charged with, and she merely told Hansbrough, "Do what you need to do to get these people to help you." (R 2687-2688). Although she contends that her actions were based upon a conversation with Officer Chisari, which she interpreted to mean that things would be

easier on Hansbrough if he told them what they needed to know. Officer Chisari testified that the only conversation he had ever had with Nora was to ask her if she wanted to talk to Hansbrough (R 2637:2644-2645). No testimony was presented which would have reflected that the defendant was promised a contact visit with Nora, if he confessed. The testimony below reflects only that Hansbrough had concern for his girlfriend, which is not enough to render the confession coerced. See, Coleman v. State, 245 So.2d 642 (Fla. 1st DCA 1971). His visit with Nora was not contingent upon a confession, in the first instance, and the confession was near at hand before the visit by Nora, and after such visit, a relieved Hansbrough decided to confess, knowing that Nora would stick by him. There is simply no basis for a finding that Hansbrough's confession was involuntary, because Nora was used as a tool of the police. This is not a case in which the police have coerced cooperation, see, e.g., Bumper v. North Carolina, 391 U.S. 543, 88 S.Ct. 1788, 20 L.Ed. 797 (1968), nor is this a case in which the state has injected a police informant into an otherwise protected area or relationship, see, e.g., United States v. Henry, 447 U.S. 264, 100 S.Ct. 2183, 65 L.Ed.2d 115 (1980).

The trial court correctly found that the actions of Officer Chisari were not, as the defense asserted, methods by which coercion and promises forced the defendant to give a statement, merely because he was allowed to see his fiance, a person with whom he had lived since 1981 (R 5093). In reviewing the totality of the circumstances, there is sufficient evidence to support the trial judge's finding that the confession was freely and voluntarily made.

C. THE DEFENDANT'S STATEMENT MADE ON JULY 23, 1984, SUBSEQUENT TO HIS ARREST, WAS NOT MADE IN VIOLATION OF HIS MIRANDA RICHTS.

The defendant raises the novel argument that because he refused to give either a written statement or to allow his statement to be recorded after his arrest that he had effectively exercised his <u>Miranda</u> rights. There is absolutely no record support for such a contention.

The record reflects that Officer Chisari testified that he read Hansbrough his rights at 9:00 p.m., and Hansbrough signed a Miranda card (R 2628).

Hansbrough simply preferred that the officer take notes, rather than taping the statement, or writing it out himself (R 2626-2627). Hansbrough indicated to Chisari that he understood his rights and wished to talk (R 2631).

Hansbrough, himself, testified that he was read his rights, and that he was willing to talk to Chisari (R 2739-2740). He gave Chisari permission to take notes, as he preferred not to tape it, and not to write it out himself (R 2740). Simply because a defendant prefers one method of communication over another, does not mean that he is invoking his right to remain silent, especially when he subsequently testifies at a suppression hearing that he was willing to talk. This contention is without merit.

Although the contention is meritless, and could be easily disposed of or decided by the court, the issue should not be reached at all on the merits for the same reason that the issue within subheading B, in the appellant's brief, should not be entertained, i.e., that the defendant never objected at trial to the admission into evidence of his confession.

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